sec news digest

Issue 95-133 July 12, 1995

COMMISSION ANNOUNCEMENTS

CHAIRMAN LEVITT ANNOUNCES APPOINTMENT OF THREE TO OFFICE OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES

Chairman Arthur Levitt announced on July 11 three appointments to the agency's Office of Municipal Securities: Susan M. Golden as Deputy Director, Mary Jo White as Attorney Fellow, and Brian T. Hourihan as a staff attorney. (Press Rel. 95-127)

ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

INITIAL DECISION IN THE MATTER OF ROBERT MAGNAN, STEVEN LABRASCIANO AND DONALD ROCHE, JR.

Based on findings that Donald A. Roche, Jr. willfully violated the antifraud provisions of the securities statutes, Administrative Law Judge Brenda P. Murray found that it was in the public interest to bar Mr. Roche from association with any broker or dealer, ordered him to cease and desist from committing or causing violations or future violations of the antifraud provisions, and ordered Mr. Roche to disgorge \$102,182, plus prejudgment interest. Mr. Roche managed the Clearwater, Florida office of Stuart-James, a registered broker-dealer in the period 1987 - 1990.

In connection with the offer and sale of securities, Mr. Roche engaged in illegal price predictions, material misrepresentations and omissions, excessive and unsuitable trading, and unauthorized transactions. The unrefuted testimony from an expert sponsored by the Division of Enforcement was that Mr. Roche churned three customer accounts resulting in losses of from 75 to 95.6 percent of the amounts the customers invested, and those customers paid Mr. Roche \$102,182 in commissions on the trades which resulted in the losses.

Mr. Roche, a 1980 graduate of Hobart College, earned about one million dollars as a registered representative in the four-year period at issue. Judge Murray rejected Mr. Roche's defense that he, like his customers, was a victim of Stuart-James. (Initial Decision No. 67)

IN THE MATTER OF DANNY CHERIF

Commission announced the institution and The settlement administrative proceedings, pursuant to Sections 15(b) and 19(h) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 pursuant to which, accepting Cherif s Offer of Settlement, the Commission permanently barred Danny Omar Cherif from association with any broker, dealer, municipal securities dealer, investment adviser, or investment company. The proceedings are based on the entry of a permanent injunction imposed against Cherif against further violations of Sections 10(b) and 14(e) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5 and 14e-3 promulgated thereunder. The injunction, to which Cherif consented, was issued by the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois in SEC v. Cherif, Civ. Action No. 89C 4204, N.D. Ill. This administrative case and the civil injunctive action upon which it is based arose out of a complaint filed by the Commission which alleged that Cherif violated the insider trading prohibitions of the federal securities laws in connection with a scheme to steal confidential information concerning mergers and acquisitions transactions from the First National Bank of Chicago. (Rel. 34-35935)

PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDERED IN PRIME BANK CASE

The Commission announced that on June 30 the Honorable Franklin D. Burgess, United States District Judge for the Western District of Washington granted the Commissions' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment against Stafford Y. L. Mew and Morreon B. Rude, both residents in the Seattle, Washington area. The defendants were recently convicted in a related criminal case of five counts of wire fraud and six counts of money laundering in a scheme involving the offer and sale of investments in a "prime bank note program." The Commissions' civil action was stayed pending the criminal case. The Commissions' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was based in part upon the facts in the related criminal conviction which arose out of the same facts. [SEC v. North Pacific Investments, Inc., Stafford Y.L. Mew and Morreon B. Rude, Civ. 94-5115 FDB] (LR-14555)

WOODBRIDGE AND WILEY PERMANENTLY ENJOINED AND ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT

On June 29, the Honorable Wayne R. Anderson, United States District Court Judge for the Northern District of Illinois, entered final judgments of permanent injunction and other equitable relief against Peter W. Woodbridge (Woodbridge) and David C. Wiley (Wiley). The final

judgments, entered by consent, enjoin Woodbridge and Wiley from violating the registration, antifraud and broker-dealer provisions of the federal securities laws and direct Woodbridge and Wiley to pay disgorgement of \$173,229 and \$157,521, respectively, payment of which is waived based on their demonstrated inability to pay. The orders do not seek civil penalties due to Woodbridge's and Wiley's demonstrated inability to pay.

The Commission's complaint alleges that from at least September 1990 to December 1992, Michael J. Randy (Randy) and his nationwide sales network, including Woodbridge and Wiley, offered and sold at least \$15 million in bogus certificates of deposit (CDs) to over 500 investors, many of whom were retirees, in at least 17 states and the Bahamas. The CDs were purportedly issued by Canadian Trade Bank, Ltd. (CTB), which, according to Randy, was located in the country of Grenada. In reality, CTB was not a bank, but a paper corporation created and controlled by Randy for the purpose of operating his scheme. The complaint alleges that Woodbridge and Wiley made misrepresentations and failed to disclose material facts to investors during the offer and sale of the registered CDs regarding, among other things, the existence of CTB, the safety of the investment and the receipt of commissions. [SEC v. Michael J. Randy, et al., No. 94-C-5902, N.D. Ill.] (LR-14556)

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT RELEASES

THE EQUITABLE LIFE ASSURANCE SOCIETY OF THE UNITED STATES, ET AL.

A notice has been issued giving interested persons until August 4 to request a hearing on an application filed by The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States (Equitable), Separate Account A of The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States (Separate Account), and Equico Securities, Inc. Applicants seek an order under Section 6(c) of the Investment Company Act exempting them from Sections 26(a)(2)(C) and 27(c)(2) of the Act, to the extent necessary to permit the deduction of a mortality and expense risk charge: (1) from the assets of the Separate Account in connection with the issuing, by Equitable through the Separate Account, of certain new series of group deferred variable annuity contracts and certificates, including certificate endorsements (the contracts and certificates being referred to herein as the 1995 Series Contracts and the New Series Contracts, respectively); and (2) in connection with the offering in the future of deferred variable annuity contracts issued by Equitable through the Separate Account or any other separate account established by Equitable in the future to support certain deferred variable annuity contracts and certificates issued by Equitable, which contracts shall be substantially similar in all material respects to the 1995 Series or New Series Contracts. (Rel. IC-21196 - July 10)

NATIONAL EQUITY TRUST, ET AL.

An order has been issued on an application filed by National Equity Trust, et al. under Sections 6(c) and 17(b) of the Investment Company Act exempting applicants from Section 17(a) of the Act. The order permits a terminating series of a unit investment trust to sell portfolio securities to a new series of the trust. (Rel. IC-21197- July 11)

THE AMERICAN EXPRESS FUNDS

An order has been issued under Section 8(f) of the Investment Company Act declaring that The American Express Funds has ceased to be an investment company. (Rel. IC-21198- July 11)

SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS

DELISTINGS GRANTED

An order has been issued granting the application of the <u>American Stock</u> <u>Exchange</u> to strike from listing and registration Biopharmaceutics, Inc., Common Stock, Par Value \$.001. (Rel. 34-35945)

An order has been issued granting the application of the <u>American Stock</u> <u>Exchange</u> to strike from listing and registration Innovet, Inc., Common Stock, \$0.001 Par Value. (Rel. 34-35950)

WITHDRAWAL SOUGHT

A notice has been issued giving interested persons until July 28 to comment on the application of Paxson Communications Corporation to withdraw its Class A Common Stock, \$.01 Par Value, from listing and registration on the <u>Boston Stock Exchange</u>. (Rel. 34-35952)

SECURITIES ACT REGISTRATIONS

The following registration statements have been filed with the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933. The reported information appears as follows: Form, Name, Address and Phone Number (if available) of the issuer of the security; Title and the number and/or face amount of the securities being offered; Name of the managing underwriter or depositor (if applicable); File number and date filed; Assigned Branch; and a designation if the statement is a New Issue.

S-8 BDM INTERNATIONAL INC /DE, 1501 BDM WAY, MCLEAN, VA 22102 (703) 848-5000 - 750,000 (\$11,793,750) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-60863 - JUL. 05) (BR. 9)

- S-8 LORONIX INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC, 750 S CAMINO DEL RIO, DURANGO, CO 81301 (303) 259-9399 900,000 (\$3,543,930) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-93730 JUN. 28) (BR. 9)
- S-8 CHAD THERAPEUTICS INC, 9445 DE SOTO AVE, CHATSWORTH, CA 91311 (818) 882-0883 976,500 (\$12,333,195) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-93734 JUN. 30) (BR. 8)
- SB-2 CONTINUUM GROUP INC, 380 LUDLOW AVE, CRANFORD, NJ 07016 (908) 709-0011 14,000,000 (\$7,000,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-93740 JUL. 03) (BR. 11)
- SB-2 NORTH COUNTRY BREWERY INC, 12 CASHMERE DR, FORT EDWARD, NY 12828 (518) 581-0492 2,420,417 (\$3,098,133.75) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-93968-NY JUN. 27) (BR. 11 NEW ISSUE)
- SB-2 ANNIES HOMEGROWN INC, 3030 BRIDEWAY, STE 208, SAUSALITO, CA 94965 (415) 332-2322 600,000 (\$3,600,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-93982-LA JUN. 27) (BR. 3 NEW ISSUE)
- F-6 SERFIN FINANCIAL GROUP SA /ADR/, 111 WALL ST, C/O CITIBANK NA, NEW YORK, NY 10043 (212) 657-5100 60,000,000 (\$3,000,000)

 DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS FOR COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-93998 JUN. 27) (BR. 99)
- S-8 TAITRON COMPONENTS INC, 25202 ANZA DR, SANTA CLARITA, CA 91355 (805) 257-6060 440,000 (\$3,300,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94102 JUN. 29) (BR. 3)
- S-8 WARREN BANCORP INC, 10 MAIN ST, PEABODY, MA 01960 (508) 531-7400 299,800 (\$2,470,700) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94104 JUN. 29) (BR. 2)
- F-6 WOOLTRU LTD, 48 WALL ST, C/O BANK OF NEW YORK, NEW YORK, NY 10286 (212) 495-1727 10,000,000 (\$500,000)
 DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS FOR COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94112 JUN. 29) (BR. 99)
- S-1 HEALTH PAYMENT REVIEW INC, 360 NEWBURY ST, BOSTON, MA 02115 (617) 266-2520 2,259,951 (\$32,769,289.50) COMMON STOCK. UNDERWRITER: BROWN ALEX & SONS INC, HAMBRECHT & QUEST, VOLPE WELTY & CO. (FILE 33-94132 JUN. 30) (BR. 6)
- S-1 REDHOOK ALE BREWERY INC, 3400 PHINNEY AVE N, SEATTLE, WA 98103 (206) 548-8000 2,250,106 (\$33,751,590) COMMON STOCK. UNDERWRITER: MONTGOMERY SECURITIES, PIPER JAFFRAY INC, SMITH BARNEY INC. (FILE 33-94166 JUN. 30) (BR. 11 NEW ISSUE)
- SB-2 MAKO MARINE INTERNATIONAL INC, 4355 N W 128TH ST, MIAMI, FL 33054 (305) 685-6591 5,345,000 (\$26,050,100) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94168 JUN. 30) (BR. 5 NEW ISSUE)
- S-1 COMPUTATIONAL SYSTEMS INC, 835 INNOVATION DR, KNOXVILLE, TN 37932 (615) 675-2110 \$22,425,000 COMMON STOCK. UNDERWRITER: BRADFORD J C & CO, MCDONALD & CO SECS INC. (FILE 33-94172 JUN. 30) (BR. 8 NEW ISSUE)
- S-1 RISK CAPITAL RE INC, 80 FIELD POINT RD, GREENWICH, CT 06830 (203) 861-2400 16,100,000 (\$322,000,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94184 JUN. 30) (BR. 9 NEW ISSUE)
- S-3 PEOPLES CHOICE TV CORP, 2 CORPORATE DRIVE STE 249, SHELTON, CT 06484 (203) 929-2800 657,823 (\$17,179,915) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94216 JUN. 30) (BR. 7)

- S-3 JETFORM CORP, 560 ROCHESTER ST SUITE 400, OTTAWA ON KIS 5K2 CANADA, A1 (613) 594-3026 150,000 (\$2,400,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94218 JUN. 30) (BR. 9)
- S-1 FIRSTBANK PUERTO RICO, 1519 PONCE DE LEON AVE, SANTURCE, PR 00908 (809) 729-8200 1,000,000 (\$1,000,000) EQUIPMENT TRUST CERTIFICATES. (FILE 33-94220 JUN. 30) (BR. 11)
- S-8 SPORTS AUTHORITY INC /DE/, 3383 N STATE RD 7, FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33319 (305) 735-1701 OTHER SECURITIES INCLUDING VOTING TRUST. (FILE 33-94224 JUN. 30) (BR. 2)
- S-8 OLYMPIC FINANCIAL LTD, 7825 WASHINGTON AVE SOUTH, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55439 (612) 942-9880 1,670,000 (\$25,050,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94228 JUN. 30) (BR. 12)
- S-8 WHITMAN MEDICAL CORP, 485 BLDG E US HIGHWAY 1 SOUTH, SUITE 100, ISELIN, NJ 08830 (908) 636-1640 600,000 (\$3,450,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94230 JUN. 30) (BR. 5)
- S-3 UAC SECURITIZATION CORP, 45 NORTH PENNA ST, STE 40, INDIANAPOLIS, IN 46204 (317) 231-6400 3,000,000 (\$3,000,000) EQUIPMENT TRUST CERTIFICATES. (FILE 33-94232 JUL. 03) (BR. 12)
- S-8 TRANSWITCH CORP /DE, 8 PROGRESS DR, SHELTON, CT 06484 2,034,726 (\$9,087,562.05) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94234 JUN. 30) (BR. 3)
- S-8 INTEGON CORP /DE/, 500 W FIFTH ST, WINSTON SALEM, NC 27152 (919) 770-2000 50,000 (\$846,875) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94236 JUN. 30) (BR. 9)
- S-8 OXFORD HEALTH PLANS INC, 800 CONNECTICUT AVE, NORWALK, CT 06854 (203) 852-1442 25,376 (\$184,184) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94242 JUL. 03) (BR. 9)
- S-8 COBRA GOLF INC, 1812 ASTON AVE, CARLSBAD, CA 92008 (619) 929-0377 300,000 (\$9,225,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94246 JUN. 30) (BR. 12)
- S-8 ASV INC /MN/, SOUTH HWY 38, P O BOX 218, MARCELL, MN 56657 (218) 832-3555 400,000 (\$2,375,000) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94248 JUN. 30) (BR. 9)
- SB-2 EASTWIND GROUP INC, 100 FOUR FALLS CORPORATE CENTER STE 305, WEST CONSHOHOCKEN, PA 19428 (610) 828-6860 2,308,250 (\$7,607,908) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94252 JUL. 03) (BR. 14)
- S-8 ROCK BOTTOM RESTAURANTS INC, 1050 WALNUT ST STE 402, BOULDER, CO 80302 (303) 417-4000 1,075,000 (\$30,234,375) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94256 JUL. 03) (BR. 11)
- S-8 APROGENEX INC, 8000 EL RIO ST, HOUSTON, TX 77054 (713) 748-5114 100,000 (\$565,630) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94258 JUL. 03) (BR. 8)
- S-8 RENAL TREATMENT CENTERS INC /DE/, 1180 WEST SWEDESFORD RD, BLDG 2, STE 300, BERWYN, PA 19312 (215) 644-4796 30,000 (\$737,313.99) COMMON STOCK. (FILE 33-94262 JUN. 30) (BR. 5)



U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Washington, D.C. 20549 (202) 942-0020

News Release

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

95-127

CHARIMAN LEVITT ANNOUNCES APPOINTMENT OF THREE TO OFFICE OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES

Washington, D.C., July 11, 1995 - - Securities and Exchange Commission Chairman Arthur Levitt today announced three appointments to the agency's Office of Municipal Securities: Susan M. Golden as Deputy Director, Mary Jo White as Attorney Fellow, and Brian T. Hourihan as a staff attorney.

Susan M. Golden has been appointed as Deputy Director of the Office. Ms. Golden most recently worked in the Commission's Division of Enforcement, where her activities covered a variety of areas, including municipal securities. Prior to joining the Commission, Ms. Golden was associated with Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson and with Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge. Ms. Golden also was Law Clerk to the Honorable John R. Hargrove, United States District Court for the District of Maryland.

Ms. Golden is a member of the District of Columbia Bar Association, serving on the Steering Committee, and as chair of the Broker-Dealer subcommittee of the Corporations, Finance and Securities Law section, and on the Continuing Legal Education Committee. Ms. Golden teaches securities laws courses for the D.C. Bar and has prepared a course for Catholic University. She is a frequent speaker, lecturer and panelist on securities law issues.

Ms. Golden received her BA from Russell Sage College in 1983 and a JD from Catholic University Law School in 1988, where she was a Note and Comment Editor for the <u>Catholic University Law Review</u>.

Mary Jo White, formerly a partner at Hunton & Williams in Richmond, Virginia, has been appointed an Attorney Fellow in the Office. Ms. White has been practicing in the area of municipal finance for over ten years, specializing in the representation of cities, counties, towns, state agencies and special purpose governmental authorities. Ms. White has headed the Virginia local government practice at Hunton & Williams since April 1993.

Ms. White was vice-chair of the National Association of Bond Lawyers' (NABL) Education Committee, and she is currently a member of the Steering Committee for the Bond Attorneys' Workshop in charge of its panels on "Ethical and Legal Opinion Responsibilities

of Counsel." She is an adjunct professor at the College of William and Mary, Marshall-Wythe School of Law, where she teaches Municipal Finance and Urban and Economic Development. Ms. White also has served as the chair and vice-chair of the NABL Fundamentals of Municipal Bonds Seminar. Ms. White belongs to the American, Virginia, Richmond and Richmond Women's Bar Associations and is a frequent speaker, lecturer and panelist on municipal finance issues.

Ms. White earned her BA from the University of North Carolina in 1977 and her JD from the College of William and Mary, Marshall-Wythe School of Law in 1984, where she was Order of the Coif and the Business Editor of the William and Mary Law Review.

Brian T. Hourihan has been appointed a staff attorney in the Office. Mr. Hourihan has worked in the municipal finance arena since 1991, first as an associate at Mudge Rose Guthrie Alexander & Ferdon and, most recently, at Rogers & Wells. Mr. Hourihan has, for the past two years, worked extensively with various types of municipal derivative products such as interest rate swaps, forward delivery agreements and other types of reinvestment agreements with municipal counterparties. Mr. Hourihan has acted as bond counsel, underwriter's counsel and special counsel in the issuance of general obligation bonds, revenue bonds and tax and revenue anticipation notes for numerous issuers of municipal securities.

Mr. Hourihan received his AB from Boston College, <u>magna cum</u> <u>laude</u>, in 1987 and his JD from Catholic University Law School in 1991, where he was a staff member for the <u>Catholic University Law</u> Review.

Chairman Levitt said "I am pleased and proud that our Office of Municipal Securities is developing an experienced and capable staff. With these three appointments, the SEC is sure to have a continued, successful focus on bringing increased disclosure and integrity to our nation's debt markets."

Paul Maco, Director of the Office of Municipal Securities, said "These three attorneys will further increase our expertise in municipal securities matters - Mary Jo White's knowledge of local government finance, Brian Hourihan's technical skills in the municipal securities area and Sue Golden's overall background in securities law should greatly enable us to provide assistance both within the Commission on municipal securities matters and to municipal market participants."

INITIAL DECISION NO. 67

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING FILE NO. 3-8370

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Before the SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

In the Matter of ROBERT A. MAGNAN, STEVEN J. LABRASCIANO, and DONALD A. ROCHE, JR.))))	INITIAL DECISION JULY 5, 1995
DOIVILLO PL ROCIIL, SR.)	

APPEARANCES: Maureen Maguire Bailey and Stephen J. Korotash for the Division of

Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission

Donald A. Roche, Jr., pro se

BEFORE: Brenda P. Murray, Chief Administrative Law Judge

The Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission) instituted this proceeding on May 19, 1994, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act of 1933 (Securities Act) and Sections 15(b)(6) and 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act). In the Order Instituting Proceedings (Order), the Division of Enforcement (Division) alleged that Donald A. Roche, Jr. (Mr. Roche), Robert A. Magnan and Steven J. Labrasciano violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. 1/ These sections are referred to as the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws. They make unlawful the use of the mails or facilities of interstate commerce in connection with the offer or sale of any security by means of a manipulative, deceptive or fraudulent device, an untrue or misleading statement or omission of a material fact, or any other action or conduct which operates to defraud or deceive a customer.

The Order sets out the allegations against Mr. Roche at II, Paragraphs R, S, and V. Mr. Roche's Answer does not deny the violative conduct set forth out in Paragraph V. The Commission's Rule of Practice 7(c), 17 C.F.R. 201.7(c), provides that "any allegation not denied shall be deemed to be admitted." In view of Mr. Roche's position that he has done nothing wrong, I consider this an oversight and have not treated it as an admission.

I held hearings in Tampa, Florida, on September 19 and 20, 1994. The Division called eight witnesses, seven of whom were Mr. Roche's former customers and one of whom was an expert. Mr. Roche, a non-lawyer, who appeared <u>pro se</u> testified and called one other witness. I received fifty exhibits offered by the Division, and eleven exhibits offered by Mr.

^{1/} The Commission entered Orders Making Findings and Imposing Remedial Sanctions on Mr. Labrasciano and Mr. Magnan on January 30, 1995 (58 SEC Docket 1960), and April 5, 1995 (59 SEC Docket 7), respectively.

Roche.

The Division filed Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a brief in support thereof (Div. Brief) on November 22, 1994. After requesting and receiving additional time in which to file a reply brief, Mr. Roche sent me on January 3, 1995, via telephone facsimile, a handwritten one-page sheet stating that "I disagree on all the SEC findings & deny all the SEC accusations and take offence to their unjust portrayal." 2/ The Division did not file a rebuttal brief because Mr. Roche had not addressed the Division's initial filing.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

My findings and conclusions are based on the record and my observations of the witnesses' demeanor. I applied preponderance of the evidence as the applicable standard of proof. 3/

Respondent

Mr. Roche received a bachelor of arts degree in economics and history from Hobart College in 1980. (Tr. 27, Vol. I) 4/ He entered the securities industry in 1982 as a registered representative with Apple Financial in Buffalo, New York. (Tr. 121, Vol. II) In November 1984, after a short stint in the video retail business, Mr. Roche joined the Tampa, FL, office of Stuart-James Co., Inc. (Stuart-James), a broker-dealer registered with the

^{2/} Mr. Roche's filing (Roche Letter/Brief) does not contain proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by Rule of Practice 16(d), 17 C.F.R. § 201.16(d) (1994).

^{3/} I have considered all proposed findings and conclusions and all contentions, and I accept those that are consistent with this decision.

^{4/} The volume citation is necessary because the two transcript volumes are not numbered consecutively.

Commission pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act. Stuart-James has been the subject of considerable regulatory activity because of its use of high pressure sales tactics in selling low-priced, speculative securities underwritten by the firm. 5/ Stuart-James went out of business in September, 1990. Many, perhaps 90 percent, of the companies which issued securities underwritten by Stuart-James no longer exist. (Tr. 84, Vol. I; Tr. 45, Vol. II)

Mr. Roche enjoyed considerable financial success as a result of his employment with Stuart-James. In 1987, he became manager of the firm's Clearwater, FL, office, and he earned approximately \$1 million dollars in compensation in the years 1986 until he left Stuart-James in 1990 (Tr. 25-26, Vol. I; Tr. 91-92, Vol. II). Mr. Roche's compensation was derived in large part from commissions charged on transactions in the approximately 300 accounts he handled for customers. (Tr. 87, Vol. II) As a matter of policy, Stuart-James required its registered representatives to sell securities where Stuart-James was the underwriter. Salespeople received higher commissions for selling these securities. (Tr. 133, Vol. II)

Since Mr. Roche left Stuart-James, he has worked as a registered representative with broker-dealer firms in Florida and California - Rosencrantz, Lyons & Ross, Burnett, Grey & Co., Inc., Lew Lieberbaum & Co., Inc., and Schneider Securities, Inc. He was with the latter firm at the time of the hearing. (Tr. 125, Vol. II)

Allegations

^{5/} The Stuart James Co., Inc., et al., Initial Decision Release No. 32 (March 17, 1993), 53 SEC Docket 2622, 2834-37

I find that the allegations in the Order are true. From about 1987 through May 1993, Mr. Roche acted in interstate commerce and used the mails, the telephone, and the facilities of a national exchange to violate the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws in that, in connection with the offer and sale of securities, he willfully (1) employed manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances to defraud, (2) obtained money by means of untrue statements of material fact, and he omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements he made not misleading, and (3) engaged in acts, transactions, practices, and courses of business which operated as a fraud on purchasers and sellers of securities.

I. Mr. Roche's Price Predictions Violated the Antifraud Provisions

"[I]t is inherently fraudulent to predict specific and substantial increases in the price of a speculative security." Cortlandt Investing Corporation, 44 S.E.C. 45, 50 (1969) 6/
Such predictions "of substantial price increases within relatively short periods of time with respect to a promotional and speculative security of an unseasoned company are a 'hallmark' of fraud and cannot be justified." Alfred Miller, 43 S.E.C. 233, 235 (1966) Further, a prediction of a substantial increase in the price of any security (not just speculative securities) with no reasonable basis is fraudulent. Lester Kuznetz, 48 S.E.C. 551, 553 (1986); SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1109 (S.D.N.Y. 1992)

Mr. Roche took advantage of his customers' trust and lack of knowledge about individual stocks and the penny stock market as a whole by inducing them to purchase

^{6/} Accord, Armstrong, Jones & Co., 43 S.E.C. 888, 896 (1968), aff'd, 421 F.2d 359 (6th Cir. 1970) cert. denied, 398 U.S. 958 (1970); Charles P. Lawrence, 43 S.E.C. 607, 610 (1967); Crow, Brourman & Chatkin, 42 S.E.C. 938, 944 (1966)

stocks he recommended with false and misleading information including baseless and unrealistic predictions that the securities would increase in price. Mr. Roche had no rational basis for the totally unrealistic price increases he predicted for these speculative securities.

The record demonstrates that Mr. Roche used price predictions that he knew or should have known were false to convince six customers to purchase the securities regarding four companies. His actions were willful in that he intentionally made predictions which conveyed materially false information to investors. Stuart-James was the underwriter on three of these offerings, so that Mr. Roche made a higher commission on transactions in these securities than he did on others, and all these securities were traded over-the-counter and either were or had been quoted on the National Association of Securities Dealers' Automated Quotation system (NASDAQ).

A. Securities of Sigmatron Nova, Inc. (Sigmatron Nova)

Sigmatron Nova, organized in 1985, developed flat panel information display products utilizing thin film electroluminescent technology. Stuart-James was the underwriter on the company's September 22, 1987 initial public offering (IPO) of 650,000 units, with each unit consisting of 50 shares of common stock and 25 warrants. Each warrant, exercisable after September 22, 1988, and expiring on September 22, 1992, entitled the holder to purchase one share of common stock at a price of \$0.28125. (D. Ex. 15A at 1, 3)

Sigmatron Nova's prospectus stated in large bold print that the securities "involve a high degree of risk and should be considered only by persons who can afford the loss of their entire investment." (D. Ex. 15A at 1). The company's IPO prospectus listed seventeen risk factors, including (1) Sigmatron Nova's limited operating history and lack of profits, (2)

the inability to assure that the company would stay in business because its resources and capital would remain low relative to its competition in an industry requiring high capital expenditures, (3) the failure of the company to ever generate positive cash flow from operations, (4) the risk associated with the fact that the company's technology, a flat panel display, had achieved only limited acceptance in military and industrial applications and involved a complex manufacturing process to produce, (5) the inability to assure that other technological developments would not render Sigmatron Nova's technology uneconomical or obsolete, (6) the company relied primarily on unpatented, proprietary know-how and the performance of key personnel, and (7) the offering would cause an immediate dilution in the company's book value to public investors. (D. Ex. 15A at 6-10)

Mr. Paresh Doshi (Mr. Doshi), a motel and restaurant owner in Cross City, FL, opened an account with Mr. Roche in 1985 or 1986. Mr. Doshi had not invested in stocks prior to opening his Stuart-James account. (Tr. 58-59, Vol. I) Mr. Doshi did not understand securities investments and he understood Mr. Roche was able and had studied the information on the stocks he recommended. (Tr. 62, 67, Vol. I) Mr. Roche asked Mr. Doshi to trust him and he did. (Id.)

Mr. Roche proposed all the stocks that were purchased in Mr. Doshi's account. (Tr. 62, Vol. I) When Mr. Roche proposed a stock for purchase, he would tell Mr. Doshi that "it would be a good stock to make money [and] [i]t was a well-studied stock." (Tr. 67, Vol. I) By March, 1988, Mr. Doshi's account reflected a \$15,000 loss. (Tr. 64-65, Vol. I)

Mr. Doshi purchased 100,000 Sigmatron Nova warrants on March 3, 1988 for \$4,007.50 based on Mr. Roche representation that he had good knowledge of this security,

that there was money to be made, and his prediction that this investment would make up the \$15,000 in losses in Mr. Doshi's account. (Tr. 63-65, Vol. I; D. Ex. 2A).

The Sigmatron Nova warrants became worthless within a year after Mr. Doshi purchased them. Sigmatron Nova notified the Commission on March 31, 1989 that it had suspended its operations due to a lack of working capital, and on September 20, 1989 that it would liquidate within 30 days and it did so. (D. Ex. 15F and 15G; Tr. 84, Vol. I) Mr. Doshi's July 1989 statement from Stuart-James showed no ask price for the warrants. Mr. Doshi estimates that he lost approximately \$35,000 trading with Mr. Roche and Stuart-James. (Tr. 79, Vol. I)

B. Europa Cruises Corp. Securities (Europa)

Europa was organized in November, 1988 to promote and operate "moderately priced day and evening cruises" which provided gambling and entertainment. (D. Ex. 13A at 3) The company began an initial public offering of its securities on June 22, 1989. The IPO was underwritten by Stuart-James. (D. Ex. 13A at 1) As detailed in the next section of this decision at page 15-16, Europa's IPO prospectus listed some twenty factors which made this a risky investment.

Mr. Roche took over the account of Fred Scheidker (Mr. Scheidker) of St. Petersburg, FL, from another registered representative at Stuart-James in 1988. Mr. Scheidker, a retired businessman, had no experience in penny stocks when he opened his account with Stuart-James. Mr. Roche represented that he would make up for all the "mistakes" that his previous Stuart-James salesperson had made in Mr. Scheidker's account.

(Tr. 100, Vol. I) <u>7</u>/ Mr. Roche sold most of the stocks that were in the account but later bought some of those same stocks back. (Tr. 97-98, Vol. I) Mr. Scheidker trusted Mr. Roche because of he held a managerial position, and he was confident that Mr. Roche was looking out for his interests. (Tr. 122, Vol. I) Mr. Scheidker "would have been proud to have him [Mr. Roche] as a son." (Tr. 103, Vol. I) Mr. Roche selected all the numerous securities in Mr. Scheidker's account. (Tr. 101, 103, 110, Vol. 1) <u>8</u>/ He did not mention much on the downside about any of these securities. (Tr. 101-02, Vol. I) Most times Mr. Roche executed trades in the account without first obtaining authorization from Mr. Scheidker. (Tr. 98, 108, Vol. I)

On June 29, 1989, Mr. Scheidker purchased 1,500 shares of Europa at \$1.00 per share based on Mr. Roche's representation that "the stock would go to like \$2 [from \$1] pretty fast." (Tr. 105, 107-08, 120, 126, Vol. I; D. Ex. 3A) Mr. Scheidker believed he had assurance from Mr. Roche that the price was going to go to \$2.00 quickly. Instead, the shares quickly went down in price, leveled off at \$0.25, and, according to Mr. Roche, the company later did some things. (Tr. 126, Vol. I) On July 10, 1989, Mr. Scheidker sold his shares in Europa at a profit of \$0.15 per share. (Tr. 126, Vol. I; D. Ex. 3B)

If the stock had been out and then they proceed[ed] to go down." (Tr. 97, Vol. I) Mr. Roche told Mr. Scheidker that he would get him involved in Stuart-James's new issues. (Id.) Mr. Scheidker had "great hopes that some of things were going to hit", that is what Mr. Roche told him. (Tr. 98, 113, Vol. I) Mr. Scheidker became disillusioned when he heard Mr. Roche talked about dumping worthless stocks on new salespeople at Stuart-James to sell. (Tr. 111, 113, Vol. I)

^{8/} Mr. Scheidker paid for these trades because he had a great faith that dealing with Stuart-James gave him an opportunity "to hit" it with a securities purchase because the company had researched these offerings so well. (Tr. 98, 113, Vol. I)

C. Securities of The Meadow Group, Inc. (Meadow)

Meadow was a blind pool IPO underwritten by Stuart-James that began on March 17, 1988. (D. Ex. 14A at 1) 2/ Meadow was organized for the purpose of identifying and acquiring businesses engaged in manufacturing, distribution, sales or services. Acquisitions would be made by means of a combination of cash, loans secured by assets of the acquiree, and Meadow's own securities. (D. Ex. 14A at 4) As detailed in the next section of this decision at page 17, Meadow's IPO prospectus listed some seventeen factors which made this a risky investment.

Mr. Roche took over Theodore Glen Boe's (Mr. Boe) account at Stuart-James in February, 1987. (Tr. 156, Vol. I) Mr. Boe, a resident of Marathon, FL, purchased securities in his account based entirely on recommendations from Mr. Roche who consistently characterized the stocks he recommended as good companies with good profit potential, and who kept promising to make money in the account. (Tr. 156, 172, Vol. I). 10/ Mr. Boe generally accepted Mr. Roche's advice except when he did not have sufficient funds to make additional purchases. (Tr. 164, Vol. I)

Mr. Boe purchased 20,000 shares of Meadow at \$0.28 per share on November 16, 1989 and 10,000 shares at \$0.27 per share on November 29, 1989 because of representations

^{2/} According to Meadow's prospectus, a "blind pool" offering is one in which a significant portion of the funds raised are only generally allocated rather than specifically allocated. Thus investors "entrust their funds with management, on whose judgement the investors must depend." (D. Ex. 14A at 4)

^{10/} In the years 1988-90, Mr. Boe, at Mr. Roche's recommendation, purchased securities approximately sixty times, with an equivalent number of sales. (Tr. 159-60, Vol. I)

by Mr. Roche that Meadow securities would rise in price to permit Mr. Boe to recoup \$11,000 in losses. (Tr. 160-63, Vol. I) Mr. Roche's claims of anticipated profits were part of an overall representation to Mr. Boe in July that his goal in recommending purchases was to recover the substantial losses in his portfolio by Christmas 1989. (Tr. 160-61, Vol. I) There is no evidence that Mr. Roche had any reasonable basis for his prediction. 11/

Meadow securities dropped substantially in price after Mr. Boe's purchase. Mr. Boe lost approximately \$5,700 when he sold his shares of Meadow on May 14, 1990, for \$0.0325 per share. (Tr. 162-63, Vol. I) 12/

D. Securities of CM Communications, Inc. (CM Communications)

CM Communications was a holding company formed in January 1989 for Marline Communications, Inc., a distributor of cellular telephones, and Cavanah Cellular Products, which designed, assembled and distributed cellular telephone accessories. (D. Ex. 12A at F-6) Donald & Co. Securities, Inc. and Kashner Davidson Securities Corp. were underwriters on CM Communications's IPO which began on January 11, 1990. (D. Ex. 12B at 1) The IPO prospectus mentioned the following risk factors among the twenty listed: (1) the offering was speculative, and involved a high degree of risk and substantial dilution from the public offering price; (2) the company had a limited operating history; (3) the company was unable to assure its revenues "will increase or remain at the same levels in the future

^{11/} Based on a total investment of \$8,300, Meadow securities would have to have risen in price 32.5% in a month, exclusive of transaction costs, to recoup Mr. Boe's \$11,000 in account losses by December 1989.

^{12/} Mr. Boe invested approximately \$55,000 of his retirement funds with Mr. Roche at Stuart-James. His losses were in excess of \$50,000. (Tr. 163, 165, Vol. I)

or that the Company will continue to earn a profit;" (4) CM Communications had limited experience in national distribution, and that aspect of the business required the rapid development of a nationwide sales organization; (5) the company was largely dependent on a single supplier; (6) the cellular phone industry was generally risky, involving rapid economic and technological changes; and (7) that CM Communications had competitors with "significantly greater financial resources and more established marketing and technical capabilities." (D. Ex. 12B at 1, 6-11)

At least three of Mr. Roche's customers - Kenneth C. Gregory (Mr. Gregory), Steven Johnson (Mr. Johnson), and Robert J. Maegerle (Mr. Maegerle) purchased shares of CM Communications based on Mr. Roche's prediction that the price of the stock would rise to a specified level during a specific period of time.

Mr. Gregory, who had spent most of his life in construction and was a semi-retired, self-employed Florida real estate broker, opened an account at Stuart-James in 1987 after he sold Mr. Roche a house. Mr. Roche told Mr. Gregory that he could make a lot of money by buying the stocks of new companies, that he was Stuart-James's office manager, and he had information and could get Mr. Gregory some good buys. (Tr. 26, Vol. II) Mr. Roche asked Mr. Gregory to trust him. Mr. Gregory did and he let Mr. Roche manage the account. (Tr. 27-28, Vol. II) Mr. Gregory knew nothing about penny stocks, and he told Mr. Roche that the \$25,000 he placed in the account represented his savings which he did not want to put at risk. (Tr. 24-28, Vol. II) On April 2, 1990, Mr. Gregory purchased 350 shares of CM Communications stock at \$7.875 per share for a total investment of \$2,771 based on Mr. Roche's representation that the price of the stock would rise to approximately \$15 per share.

(Tr. 30-32, Vol. II; D. Ex. 7)

Mr. Roche took over the Stuart-James account of Mr. Johnson, who is employed in the aviation business and resides in Ruskin, FL, in approximately June of 1989. (Tr. 3, Vol. II) On January 22, 1990, Mr. Johnson purchased 700 shares of CM Communications at \$7.35 a share for a total investment of \$5,160 based on Mr. Roche's representation that the stock price would rise to \$20 to \$25 per share within 30 to 60 days. 13/ (Tr. 8-11, Vol. II; D. Ex. 6)

Mr. Roche began handling the Stuart-James account of Mr. Maegerle, a semi-retired consulting engineer, who resided in Delaware in early 1990. (Tr. 144, Vol. I) Mr. Roche told Mr. Maegerle that investing in CM Communications could potentially recover the \$8,500 in cumulative losses in his account. (Tr. 145, Vol. I) As a result, during the period January 30, 1990 to February 14, 1990, Mr. Maegerle sold the securities in the account and used the proceeds to purchase 1,065 shares of CM Communications at prices ranging from \$7.00 to \$9.20, for a total investment of \$8,620.50. (Tr. 146-50, Vol. I; D. Ex. 4A) On April 5, 1990, Mr. Maegerle invested an additional \$8,265 for 1,000 shares of CM Communications based on information from Mr. Roche which predicted that the price of CM Communications stock would rise to \$13.00 per share in six to nine months, and to \$26.00 per share within eighteen months. (Tr. 148-49, Vol. I; D. Ex. 4B; R. Ex. 3)

The highest bid price for the CM Communications in 1990 was \$8.875 per share; in

^{13/} On cross-examination, Mr. Johnson denied that Mr. Roche had referred to the price increase as "a potential range or possible range". According to Mr. Johnson, "No, it was that's where it's going. And -- between 20 and 25. And my comment was, I'd like to get out at 15 or so. " (Tr. 15, Vol. II)

1991 the highest bid price was \$1.4375 per share; by 1992, the highest bid price of the stock was \$0.625 per share. (D. Ex. 10A) Mr. Gregory did not sell his shares, and his last statement from Stuart-James on September 28, 1990 put the bid price of the stock at \$0.687 a share. (Tr. 33, Vol. II; D. Ex. 7) Mr. Johnson and Mr. Maegerle lost approximately \$4,700 and \$12,000 to \$13,000, respectively, on their CM Communications shares. (Tr. 151, Vol. I; Tr. 16, Vol. II) On September 28, 1992, the company informed the Commission that its stock was being delisted from the NASDAQ and that it would be liquidating under a bankruptcy proceeding. (D. Ex. 12D)

CM Communications, Europa, Meadow, and Sigmatron Nova were all relatively new business enterprises. They all had limited operating histories, a history of operating losses, or very little earnings during their limited operating period, and they were all in activities which involved a high degree of competitive, economic, and in some cases technological risk. 14/ With good reason, the prospectus of each company noted its speculative nature.

Mr. Roche's price predictions as to these securities violated the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws because they were willful misrepresentations and/or omissions of material facts regarding the financial and operating condition of the companies recommended, given the "significance the reasonable investor would place on the withheld

^{14/} See, Lester Kuznetz, 48 S.E.C. 551, 553-54 n.3 (1986) (finding no reasonable basis for predictions that an investment was guaranteed or relatively safe where company with four years of operating losses, and noting that a salesman recommending a security must disclose material adverse information which is known or readily ascertainable); SEC v. R.A. Holman & Co., 366 F.2d 456, 458-59 (2d Cir. 1966), reh'g denied, 377 F.2d 665 (2d Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 389 U.S. 991 (1967) (finding no reasonable basis for price predictions when company sustained a loss, even though it had been profitable for three years); SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1109 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (finding no reasonable basis for predictions about unseasoned companies either operating at a loss or with small profits).

or omitted information." Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 240 (1988)

I reject Mr. Roche's position that he was victimized by Stuart-James, who "enforced their belief system through its management and propaganda." 15/ (Roche Letter/Brief 1) The case law is clear that a registered representative cannot disclaim responsibility for her/his actions, as Mr. Roche has attempted to do, by claiming to have been misled by others.

Brokers and salesmen are 'under a duty to investigate, and their violation of that duty brings them within the term 'willful' in the Exchange Act.' Thus a salesman cannot deliberately ignore that which he has a duty to know and recklessly state facts about matters of which he is ignorant. He must analyze sales literature and must not blindly accept recommendations made therein. Hanly v. SEC, 415 F.2d 589, 595-96 (2d Cir. 1969)

The basic governing principle is that a securities sales person who recommends a security or makes a representation concerning an issuer represents that he/she has conducted a reasonable investigation and that there exists a reasonable basis for the recommendation or representation. Heft, Kahn and Infante, Inc., 41 S.E.C. 379, 382-83 (1963); Ross Securities. Inc., 41 S.E.C. 509-11 (1963); Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 13 SEC Docket 646, 650-51 (1977) See also SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1108 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (Defendant's argument that he was naive and relied upon information from employer did not negate intent, but rather established it. Those who hold themselves out as professionals with specialized knowledge and skill to furnish guidance can not be heard to claim youth

^{15/} I grant Mr. Roche's request and allow in evidence as Respondent's Exhibit Number 1, a tape of a Stuart-James Regional Vice President discussing CM Communications. (Tr. 80-82, Vol. II) Mr. Roche claims to have misled by such things as a research report prepared by a former Stuart-James analyst (R. Ex 3) and the presentation in R. Ex. 1. (Tr. 96, Vol. II)

or inexperience when faced with charges of violations of the antifraud provisions of the securities laws.)

From observing the witnesses I am persuaded that their testimony is truthful and that Mr. Roche told them that stocks would rise to certain levels or ranges of prices or dollar returns. Such predictions, whether or not precise, are fraudulent. Alfred Miller, 43 S.E.C. 233, 235 (1966) (finding predictions of stock price rise to range of 50 to 80 cents and to \$1.00 or \$1.50 by year-end were fraudulent) Mr. Roche offered no support for his disclaimer that "I never stated to any client that a stock was going to a certain price and definitely go there, and that's why they should buy it." (Tr. 88, Vol. II), and that "[he] never gave precise price predictions, it's going to a certain price at a certain time." (Tr. 96, Vol. II) Finally, even if Mr. Roche had couched his predictions as his own opinion of the potential of the stock, rather than as guarantees (Tr. 88, Vol. II), it would not lessen his responsibility for making fraudulent predictions. Armstrong, Jones and Co., 43 S.E.C. 888, 896 (1968), accord SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. at 1109 ("The fraud is not ameliorated where the positive prediction about the future performance of securities is cast as opinion or possibility rather than as a guarantee.")

II. Mr. Roche's Material Misrepresentations and Omissions Violated the Antifraud Provisions

The record is replete with evidence that Mr. Roche intentionally made false statements and failed to disclose material information to investors. When he recommended that Mr. Doshi buy Sigmatron Nova warrants, Mr. Roche did not advise Mr. Doshi of the following material information: that (1) the NASDAQ stopped listing Sigmatron Nova

warrants on December 9, 1987, three months before he recommended that Mr. Doshi purchase the securities, (D. Ex. 10D at 2) 16/(2) certain risk factors existed with the company which could jeopardize his investment, (3) the company had a limited operating history and lack of profits, 17/(4) the company's financial stability was uncertain, (5) a complex manufacturing process could pose a risk to the company, (6) significant competition existed in the industry, and (7) Forbes News Service rated Sigmatron Nova's IPO as one of the worst in 1987. (Tr. 66-68, Vol. I)

When he recommended that Mr. Scheidker purchase Europa securities, Mr. Roche did not disclose to Mr. Scheidker any risks associated with an investment in Europa. (Tr. 108, Vol. I) He did not inform him that Europe's prospectus for the IPO stated in large, bold typeface that "[t]hese securities involve a high degree of risk and should be considered only by persons who can afford the loss of their entire investment." (D. Ex. 13A at 1) Or that the prospectus listed among twenty items such risk factors as (1) the company's recent formation and limited operating history; (2) the inability of the company to ensure it could operate a viable business or earn a profit; (3) Europa was in competition with other vacation activities in its operating area, including direct competition of other cruise ships in

^{16/} It appears that at the time of the purchase the warrants were listed in the pink sheets published by the National Quotation Bureau, however, Mr. Roche at the hearing stated that he did not trade or recommend securities that were so listed. (Tr. 83, Vol. I; Tr. 86, Vol. II)

^{17/} According to its report for the third quarter ended March 31, 1988, Sigmatron Nova had a quarterly net loss from operations in 1988 of \$922,808, a quarterly net loss from operations in 1987 of \$682,771, and a cumulative net loss from its inception in 1985 of \$7,524,938. (D. Ex. 15C at 4). The third quarter results for 1988 came out after Mr. Doshi's purchase, but the other information was available to Mr. Roche at the time he recommended that Mr. Doshi purchase these securities.

some markets; (4) the existing of laws or proposed legislation which would adversely affect the firm's operations; (5) the inability to secure ports for Europa's cruise ships; and (6) the SEC administrative proceeding then pending against Europa's underwriter and principal-market maker, Stuart-James. (D. Ex. 13A at 6-12)

In connection with his recommendation that Mr. Boe purchase Meadow securities, Mr. Roche did not inform Mr. Boe of any negative information about Meadow. (Tr. 159, Vol. I) Mr. Roche did not tell Mr. Boe that Meadow's prospectus described its shares, in large bold type, as "involving a high degree of risk and should be considered only by persons who can afford the loss of their entire investment." (D. Ex. 14A at 1) Further, the prospectus outlines seventeen risk factors which included (1) the company's lack of an operating history; (2) the risky nature of "blind pool" offerings; (3) the potential inexperience with managing acquired business; (4) and the fact that no prospective acquisitions had been identified, along with the possibility that the company may not find suitable businesses to acquire or to secure necessary financing. (D. Ex. 14A at 4-7) Mr. Roche told Mr. Boe that he "shouldn't pay any attention to the risk factors [set out in prospectuses], that they were only something that was put in there because the SEC insisted on it. And it was really of no concern." (Tr. 158, Vol. I)

When making sales recommendations to Mr. Gregory, Mr. Roche did not disclose existing material information that was negative about the companies whose securities he was recommending, and he told Mr. Gregory to ignore the language in the prospectus which described the risks associated with the enterprise. (Tr. 26-27, 29, Vol. II) Mr. Roche also represented to Mr. Gregory that he had information so that Mr. Gregory could get some

"good buys." (Tr. 26, Vol. II) In recommending securities to Mr. Gregory, Mr. Roche "... just told me straight, they're going to make money. I've got to get on this one. It's going to go up, ..." (Tr. 29, Vol. II)

In sales presentations to his customer Robert Novak (Mr. Novak), Mr. Roche never disclosed anything negative about stocks he was recommending, but always disclosed only positive information. 18/ (Tr. 39, Vol. I)

Mr. Roche told Mr. Johnson that he had access to non-public information so that he had made profits of from twenty-five to forty percent and higher for his other clients and he expected to do the same for Mr. Johnson. (Tr. 6, Vol II) There is no evidence that this information is true. Mr. Roche never stated anything negative about the companies he recommended to Mr. Johnson. (Tr. 7, Vol. II)

Mr. Roche's failure to disclose risk factors concerning the securities he recommended that persons buy was a failure to state material facts in violation of the antifraud provisions.

B. Fennekohl & Co., 41 S.E.C. 210, 215-17 (1962); Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith,

13 SEC Docket 646, 653-54 (1977). In addition, his advice to customers that they should ignore statements in prospectuses amounted to a willful denial that highly speculative securities were risky in nature. This conduct violated the antifraud provisions of the securities laws. Lester Kuznetz, 48 S.E.C. 551, 553 (1986) (held untrue statements that an

^{18/} Mr. Novak was a partner with an architectural firm in Cincinnati, Ohio, when Mr. Roche took over his Stuart-James account in early 1988. (Tr. 32-33, Vol. I) Mr. Novak prior investment experience had been rolling over an IRA into a brokerage account which has mainly blue chip stocks, some non-taxable money market funds, and some Fidelity mutual funds. (Tr. 33-34, Vol. I) Mr. Novak knew little about penny stocks, and believed that were at the medium risk level. (Tr. 36-37, Vol. I)

investment was relatively safe violated the antifraud provisions)

Based on his education, experience, the knowledge he displayed at the hearing, and the evidence of his dealings with customers, I find that Mr. Roche knew about the risks in the investments he recommended and deliberately did not disclose them. Mr. Roche acted with a high degree of scienter when he made false statements of material fact and omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements not misleading about the business performance, prospects, and risks of the securities he was recommending, and that he thereby violated the antifraud provisions of the securities laws as alleged in the Order.

III. Mr. Roche's False Limit Order Information Violated the Antifraud Provisions

In July 1990, Mr. Gregory hesitated about purchasing CM Communications at \$7.875 a share as Mr. Roche recommended because of previous losses suffered in his account. Mr. Roche induced Mr. Gregory to purchase the securities, by volunteering to put a "stop/loss" on the shares at \$7.00 so that if the price declined to that level Stuart-James would sell the shares thus limiting Mr. Gregory's loss. 19/ When the price of CM Communications dropped and Mr. Gregory requested that Stuart-James implement the stop/loss order, he learned that such things did not exist. (Tr. 31-33, Vol. II)

Mr. Roche suggested that he explained to Mr. Gregory before he purchased the securities that the NASDAQ did not have stop/loss orders so that his reference was to a "mental stop". (Tr. 46, Vol. II) Mr. Gregory understood that Mr. Roche meant a computer generated procedure that would occur automatically. According to Mr. Gregory, Mr. Roche

^{19/} As noted previously, when Mr. Gregory, who was semi-retired, opened his account with Mr. Roche he told him the \$25,000 he was investing was savings he did not want to put at risk. (Tr. 24-28, Vol. II)

told him that the NASDAQ did not allow such orders only after the price dropped and the stop loss procedure did not take effect.

In view of Mr. Roche's many false statements in evidence, I believe Mr. Gregory's version of what Mr. Roche told him and when. Other factors that convince me Mr. Roche is lying are that his witness, Theodore Ben Benetis, a Stuart-James registered representative during the period March 1987 until late 1990, stated that it was impossible to implement a customer's stop/loss directive because the stocks recommended by Stuart-James often plummeted in price so that "there would be no stopping", and Mr. Roche's stop/loss definition would not have protected Mr. Gregory if Mr. Roche was unavailable when the stock dropped in price, which is what happened in this situation. (Tr. 197-98, Vol. II)

Mr. Gregory did not sell his shares, and his last statement from Stuart-James in September 1990 valued the stock at \$0.687 a share. (Tr. 33, Vol. II; D. Ex. 7) The company ultimately went bankrupt so that Mr. Gregory's \$7,875 investment was worthless.

I find that Mr. Roche's representations to Mr. Gregory and his failure to disclose that the NASDAQ did not allow stop/loss or limit orders constitute material misrepresentations and omissions made willfully to induce Mr. Gregory to buy CM Communications stock. Such misrepresentations and omissions constitute a sales technique lending a "highly speculative investment an unwarranted air of certainty as to future profits and to obscure the risks involved in such an investment" in violation of the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws. Ross Securities, Inc., 41 S.E.C. 509, 514 (1963)

IV. Mr. Roche's Excessive and Unsuitable Trading Violated the Antifraud Provisions

Mr. Roche controlled trading in the accounts of at least three of his customers: Mr.

Gregory, Robert & Mary Novak (Mr. Novak), and Fred & Bette Scheidker (Mr. Scheidker). The accounts were not designated as discretionary accounts, however, each of these customers routinely followed Roche's investment advice because he asked them to trust him and they did so believing that he was looking out for their interests. Often, Mr. Roche executed trades in these customer accounts without first getting authorization to do so. The evidence is unanimous that all of the activity in the accounts occurred based on Mr. Roche's buy and sell recommendations. When customers gave Mr. Roche prior approval for transactions, their lack of knowledge of penny stocks and general unsophistication with trading securities, Mr. Roche's many misrepresentations and omissions, his failure to independently investigate the stocks himself, his position that customers had to act quickly on his recommendations, were all conditions that made it impossible for these customers to make informed, independent judgements. Davis v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 906 F.2d 1206, 1212 (8th Cir. 1990); Eugene J. Erdos, 47 S.E.C. 985, 989-90 (1983), aff'd 742 F.2d 507, 508 (9th Cir. 1984); Mihara v. Dean Witter & Co., 619 F.2d 814, 821 (9th Cir. 1980); Hecht v. Harris, Upham & Co., 283 F. Supp. 417, 433 (N.D. Cal. 1968), aff'd, 430 F.2d 1202 (9th Cir. 1970)

In a fraud context, the term churning describes excessive trading by registered representatives who controlled trading in the accounts and who, acting to benefit themselves rather than their customers, traded excessively in light of the customers' investment objectives. Cases cited above and Albert Vincent O'Neal, 56 SEC Docket 2447, 2450 (1994); See e.g. Mihara v. Dean Witter & Co., 619 F.2d 814, 820 (9th Cir. 1980); Shad v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 799 F.2d 525 (9th Cir. 1986)

Unsuitable trading occurs where a registered representative engages in risky transactions that were directly contrary to the customer's stated investment objectives.

Richard N. Cea, 44 S.E.C. 8, 18 (1969)

Churning and unsuitable trading violate the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws because they involve the fraudulent management of customer accounts when registered representatives enter transactions and manage customer accounts for the purpose of gaining commissions and in disregard of the customer's interests. Miley v. Oppenheimer & Co., 637 F.2d 318, 324 (5th Cir. 1981); McNeal v. Paine, Webber, Jackson & Curtis, Inc., 598 F.2d 888, 890 n.1 (5th Cir. 1979); "Churning, in and of itself, may be a deceptive and manipulative device under Section 10(b), the scienter required by Section 10(b) being implicit in the nature of the conduct." Armstrong v. McAlpin, 699 F.2d 79, 91 (2d Cir. 1983)

I find Dr. Stewart Leon Brown, an expert sponsored by the Division, persuasive that Mr. Roche caused churning and unsuitable trading in the accounts of Mr. Gregory, Mr. Novak, and Mr. Scheidker. (D. Ex 11) 20/ Using information from account statements, trade tickets, and trade runs, Dr. Brown analyzed the activity in the accounts which involved securities which were all unlisted over-the-counter stocks in which Stuart-James made a market and was thus a principal. 21/ The vast majority of transactions involved penny

^{20/} Dr. Brown, a finance professor at Florida State University and a Chartered Financial Analyst, was called by the Division. Dr. Brown is a consultant to a \$40 billion pension fund, conducted training for the Florida Division of Securities and the National Association of Securities Examiners in the analyses of retail brokerage accounts, has published in numerous scholarly and professional journals, and has testified over fifty times as an expert witness primarily in retail securities cases. (Tr. 51-52, Vol. II)

^{21/} The Division's analysis was limited by Mr. Roche's failure to respond to a subpoena for (continued...)

stocks which Dr. Brown defines as stocks priced at less than one dollar. 22/ (Tr. 62, Vol. II; D. Ex 11 at 5)

Mr. Gregory - Fourteen purchases and corresponding sales transactions occurred during the period April 29, 1988 through April 2, 1990. On average securities were held 103 days. (D. Ex. 11 at 17) Five securities were held for less than 64 days, and another two instances securities were bought and sold within one day. (D. Ex. 11 at 20)

Mr. Novak - Twenty-one purchases and corresponding sales transactions effected in the account from March 25, 1988 through May 8, 1990. One security was held for just ten days, and four other securities were held for less than two months. On average, securities purchased and sold in Mr. Novak's account during the period were held 123 days. (D. Ex. 11 at 21, 24-24A)

Mr. Scheidker - Eighteen securities were bought and sold from July 1988 through June 30,

Penny stocks are low-priced, highly speculative stocks generally sold in the over-the-counter (OTC) market and generally not listed on an exchange. Often, they do not qualify for listing on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System (NASDAQ). ... out of an estimated 55,000 publicly traded corporations in the United States, ... 4,970 are quoted on the NASDAQ system. ...47,000 securities fall entirely outside exchange or NASDAQ listings. Although these stocks have been used in the past to finance small, innovative companies, some of which have developed into successful corporations, recently the issuance and subsequent trading of such securities has been increasingly used as a means for defrauding investors. (H. Rep. Rep. No. 101-617, 101st Cong., 2d Sess. 8 (1990)

<u>21</u>/(...continued)

the trading records of his customers. At the hearing, the Division learned Mr. Roche had materials that he did not turn over that were covered by the subpoena. (Tr. 37-41, 117, Vol. II)

<u>22</u>/ According to a committee of the United States Congress that examined the issue in 1990:

1989. The average holding period was 92 days. Five securities were bought and sold in same two weeks or less, and another six securities were held less than 88 days. (D. Ex. 11 at 28-28A)

A crucial ingredient in determining whether churning exists is the customer's investment objectives. Dr. Brown's analysis used the following: Mr. Gregory - low risk, Mr. Novak - growth, moderate risk, and Mr. Scheidker - moderate risk. 23/(D. Ex. 11 at 2) The evidence supports the use of these risk levels. Mr. Gregory was semi-retired when he began doing business with Mr. Roche and told him that the money in the account was savings which he did not want to lose. (Tr. 27, Vol. II) Mr. Novak understood that penny stocks involved medium risk. He told Mr. Roche that he was willing to take medium risk but he did not wish to take high risks because he intended to use the funds for retirement. (Tr. 37, 38, Vol. I) Mr. Scheidker was retired. One of his accounts was an Individual Retirement Account, he was looking for price appreciation and thought that buying many stocks would lower the risk. (Tr. 92-93, 115-19, Vol. I) A low to moderate risk level was appropriate for these investors considering their age, employment, and their investment objectives, i. e., the funds were intended to support their retirement. Mr. Gregory was semiretired, Mr. Novak's funds were from his retirement funds with a previous employer and he wanted to add to this amount since the architectural firm he began had no formal retirement plan, and Mr. Scheidker, age 76, had turned his businesses in St. Louis over to his sons and was dividing his time between Florida and St. Louis. (Tr. 143, Vol. I) Mr.

^{23/} The Division furnished Dr. Brown with this information and he does not know the basis for assigning these customers these objectives. (Tr. 56, Vol. II)

Roche's misrepresentations about the risk associated with penny stocks in general, and the particular stocks he recommended in particular, led his customers to believe they were investing funds consistent with their objectives, when in fact their funds were being used to repeatedly purchase and sell securities for Mr. Roche's benefit.

I reject Mr. Roche's position that he was justified in assuming that all the customers who invested with him wanted high risk investments because his clients knew that Stuart-James engaged in an aggressive strategy to make money in low cost securities. (Tr. 107, Vol. II) The evidence is that Mr. Roche did not inform customers of the risks involved investing in penny stocks. Rather, Mr. Roche downplayed the risks by emphasizing his knowledge and his market successes for other customers 24/, he described Stuart-James's in-house research as excellent, he described all equity investments as involving risks and failed to disclose that penny stocks are high risk investments, he dismissed as insignificant prospectus materials which described investments as risky, he consistently failed to disclose any negative information about the investments he proposed, and he hinted that he had information that other registered representatives did not have.

Dr. Brown's application of two measures - annual turnover ratio and breakeven cost factor, demonstrate that churning and unsuitable trading occurred in these accounts in that, given the level of trading and the costs imposed, there was little reason to expect that these customers would maintain their original investments, there was no reasonable basis to expect that the accounts would achieve satisfactory results, and Mr. Roche, not his customers, benefited from the transactions he recommended. (D. Ex. 11, at 7-8). Mr. Roche did not

^{24/} There is no evidence that this representation was true.

dispute the results of Dr. Brown's analysis which are as follows (D. Ex. 11 at 2, 7-8):

CUSTOMER	NET FUNDS INVESTED	OUT LOSS	OF POCKET ES	TOTAL COMMISSIONS
Mr. Gregory	\$12,667	\$9,896	i (78%)	\$15,571
Mr. Novak	51,767	38,917	(75%)	37,107
Mr. Scheidker	56,248	53,748	3 (95.6%)	49,504
CUSTOMER	ANNUAL TURNO RATE	VER	BREAKEVE COST FACT	- ·
Mr. Gregory	3.3 times		109.7%	
Mr. Novak	4.6 times		138.8%	
Mr. Scheidker	7.1 times		256.7%	

The annual turnover rate, i.e., ratio of total purchases in the account divided by the average equity in the account and annualizing the result, measures how many times a year the portfolio [all the securities in the account] is turned over. 25/ (D. Ex 11 at 3) It is relevant when considering turnover rates to keep in mind that when an investor buys and sells securities he/she incurs transactions costs, i.e., direct costs resulting from the transaction such as commissions and transfer taxes, which cut into profits. Unsophisticated investors are often surprised to learn that transactions which appear profitable can change into a net loss situation after consideration of transaction costs. Frequent buying and selling - high turnover ratios - is expensive. Transaction costs on penny stocks are proportionately

^{25/} The "annual turnover ratio" (ATR) is based on the so-called "Looper Formula" which the Commission has applied in churning cases for some time. See Looper and Company, 38 S.E.C. 294, 297 n.6 (1958)

much higher than on higher priced stocks. (D. Ex. 11 at 6) 26/ Dr. Brown's opinion that turnover rates understate excessive trading in penny stocks because penny stocks have extraordinarily high transaction cost is unrefuted. (D. Ex 11 at 6) Traditional thinking is that a portfolio has a greater opportunity to earn a higher return the fewer times the securities in the portfolio are turned over due to the imposition of transactions costs.

To determine if the turnover rate is relevant on the question of churning, requires consideration of the customer's investment objectives and the types of securities involved. Given these customers' investment objectives, I find that these turnover rates of 3.3, 4.6 and 7.1 for customers willing to take low and moderate risk with their investments demonstrate that Mr. Roche churned these accounts. A turnover rate of 7.4 has been found excessive where the customer instructed the registered representative to handle the account aggressively, and turnover rates of from 3.5 to 4.4 27/ have been held excessive where the customers were individuals generally uninformed about trading in securities who wanted income consistent with safety. Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc., 43 SEC Docket 1322, 1325-26 (1989); Samuel B. Franklin & Co., 42 S.E.C. 325, 328-30 (1964); Behel, Johnsen & Co., 26 S.E.C. 163, 167-68 (1947) 28/ The facts in the cited cases were similar to this situation

^{26/} Dr. Brown calculated that in these accounts stocks priced at between \$.30 and \$1.00, had transaction costs of between 18.4 percent (purchases) and 9 percent (sales), while stocks priced greater than \$5.00, had transaction costs of between 5.4 percent (purchases) and 3.4 percent (sales). (D. Ex. 11 at 6)

^{27/} The 3.5 rate occurred over a 25-month period, the 4.4 rate occurred over an 18-month period, and the 4.4 rate occurred over a three year period.

^{28/} One authority has proposed a "2-4-6" rule, whereby the presence of an ATR greater than two indicates the possibility of churning, the presence of an ATR greater than four establishes a presumption of churning and an ATR in excess of six conclusively establishes churning. Stuart Goldberg, 1 <u>Fraudulent Broker-Dealer Practices</u>, § 2.9(b)(1) at 2-43 to .50

in that the customers' accounts suffered major losses or small profits while the transaction costs, which includes payments to the registered representatives, were considerable.

The breakeven cost ratio, i.e., the return necessary to cover transaction costs (commissions on agency trades and markups and markdowns on principal trades) is an even better indicator that Mr. Roche churned these accounts because it directly measures trading costs which are proportionately higher for penny stocks. (D. Ex. 11 at 7) Dr. Brown uses the term breakeven ratio for what others have referred as commission/equity ratios and cost/equity maintenance factors. The breakeven ratios for the three accounts from 109.7 percent to 256.7 percent indicate the extraordinary and unrealistic level of return these accounts would have had to earn before the customers would receive any profit. Dr. Brown's expert opinion that a breakeven cost factor of over twelve percent is excessive - based on the long run arithmetic average annual rate of return on S&P 500 stocks of twelve percent because there is little likelihood that an account could cover costs exceeding this level and earn a satisfactory return is unrefuted on this record. (D. Ex. 11 at 5) The fact that these accounts lost from between 75 to 95.5 percent of principal while they were paying huge transactions costs, which in one instance exceeded the net funds invested, is a conclusive indicator that Mr. Roche churned these accounts to benefit himself and not his customers. (See infra at 26; D. Ex. 11 at 2) These losses are extraordinary given that during the general time period analyzed for these three investors, returns on a variety of indexes and mutual funds were all positive. Returns on conservative investments such as corporate bonds, utility stocks, and other high quality stocks ranged between 9 percent and 22 percent and returns on generally riskier small capitalization stocks and NASDAQ stocks ranged

between 4 and 17 percent. (D. Ex. 11 at 2-3, 11)

As noted these customers paid large commissions. Mr. Gregory paid commissions that were 123 percent of his net investment, Mr. Novak paid commissions that amounted to 72 percent of his net investment, and Mr. Scheidker paid commissions amounting to 88 percent of his net investment. 29/ Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc., 43 SEC Docket 1322, 1323-25 (1989) (Commission found churning where in a little over a year the account with an original balance of \$100,000 lost about \$55,000, while charges amounted to \$53,222.); Michael David Sweeney, 50 SEC Docket 59, 64 (1991) (Commission found, inter alia, 22% to 44% depletion of net investments by transaction costs "a clear indication applicants engaged in excessive trading").

Mr. Roche does not deny that he recommended that these customers engage in these security transactions so it is clear that he acted willfully and with scienter. He demonstrated at the hearing that he clearly understood the costs of trading low-cost securities. In addition, his consistent urging to clients who lacked funds for recommended purchasers that they sell securities they held, his refusal to explain to his clients how he was compensated, and his misrepresentation that his primary compensation came from trading stocks for himself, further demonstrate his willful intent to defraud his customers by churning their accounts. (Tr. 41, 97-98, 100-01, 116-17, 147-49, Vol. I; Tr. 29-30, Vol. II; D. Ex. 2D at 6)

Finally, the relatively short holding periods for these three customers - average of 92 days, 103 days, and 123 days with instances where securities were bought and sold within

^{29/} Mr. Gregory was under the mistaken belief that the amount of commission he paid was negligible. (Tr. 34, Vol. II)

days and months - is another indicia of excessive trading. <u>J. Logan & Co.</u>, 41 S.E.C. 88 (1962), <u>aff'd</u>, 325 F.2d 147 (9th Cir. 1963), <u>cert. denied</u> 377 U.S. 937 (1964); <u>Behel Johnsen</u> & Co., 26 S.E.C. 163, 167 (1947).

In summary, the overwhelming evidence is that Mr. Roche's conduct fits the three established criteria that demonstrate churning in violation of the antifraud provisions of the securities laws:

- (1) he exercised control over trading in the accounts,
- (2) trading in the accounts was excessive in light of the customers' objectives, and
- (3) he acted with scienter.

V. Mr. Roche's Unauthorized Transactions Violated the Antifraud Provisions

The evidence is overwhelming that as part of a scheme to defraud which used misrepresentations, omissions, and deception, Mr. Roche effected unauthorized stock transactions in customer accounts in the period 1987 to 1990 thus violating the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws. Martin Herer Engelman, 59 SEC Docket 1038 (1995) (two respondents compounded the fraud by engaging in unauthorized transactions); SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1096-99, 1110 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (unauthorized trading violates 10b-5 when a pattern of unauthorized trading and misrepresentations relating to unauthorized trade); United States v. Pray, 452 F. Supp. 788, 795 (M.D.Pa. 1978) (unauthorized trading a deceptive practice prohibited by the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws). 30/

^{30/} The courts have varied in their treatment of claims under the securities laws for unauthorized trading. While unauthorized trades are not <u>per se</u> a Rule 10b-5 violation, they (continued...)

In early May 1989, Mr. Doshi learned from confirmation slips that Mr. Roche had sold 25,000 shares of Wine Society securities at \$0.0312 per share for a total of \$770, and had purchased 750 shares of Denpac Corporation stock at \$1.00 per share for a total of \$750 in his account. (Tr. 68-70, Vol. I; D. Ex. 2C) Mr. Doshi was upset and taped his phone conversation with Mr. Roche in which he sought an explanation for Mr. Roche's unauthorized actions. (D. Ex. 2E and 2D at 2-3, 7-8)

Mr. Doshi But, you see, you never even mentioned that thing, you just bought it without telling me all that stuff.

Mr. Roche It was a new issue. I, I, I --- you know, where's it at now, it's ... On those new issues you have to react quickly, ... I've had to get down and I've had to get, uh, into researching and making sure these companies are ... what they're telling me they are, and I don't just take, take it for granted anymore.... my research is stepped up ...

Mr. Doshi You bought this Denpak (sic) Corporation. I don't even know about it, you didn't even tell me that you were -- whatever, even if it was \$5, \$10, I don't care. You bought that without even -- I don't even know about it.

* *

Mr. Roche

Paresh, you're right . . . It's a new -- it was a new issue, and all I can say is, is, you're right, and, and -- you're right, and I never -- in the past -- I, I, you're right about that. That's not, it's not protocol; it's not correct, and if I, if I, any, any chance that -- we had talked, but if there was any chance that I thought we were . . . going to lose on it, I, I wouldn't have, but you're right about that, and [inaudible] it's too late to cancel, but I'm saying, saying, the money is, is, is, uh, is there for you, okay? Don't worry about that.

<u>30</u>/(...continued)

can be where it is shown that there was an intent to deceive or defraud. Thomas Lee Hazen, The Law of Securities Regulation 439 (2nd ed. 1990); See R.A. Holman & Co., Inc., 42 S.E.C. 866, 876 (1965), aff'd, 366 F.2d 446, 451 (2d Cir. 1966); Shelley Roberts & Co. of California, 38 S.E.C. 744, 751 (1958); First Anchorage Corp., 34 S.E.C. 299, 304 (1952)

When Mr. Doshi complained, Stuart-James refunded the funds Mr. Roche spent to purchase the Denpac Corp. securities, but only after Mr. Doshi furnished Stuart-James with a copy of the taped conversation.

According to Mr. Scheidker, "[t]here were times stocks were bought without any previous discussion or approval. He had already bought them and I would hurry down to make payments on them. And that was about the most usual situation." (Tr. 98, Vol. I) For example, Mr. Roche, without Mr. Scheidker's approval, purchased 30,000 warrants of International Microcomputer for \$4,510, on February 21, 1989, and an additional 65,000 warrants for \$9,760 on February 24. (Tr. 109-10, Vol. I; D. Ex. 3A) Mr. Scheidker paid for these securities without complaint because he wanted to continue to do business with Stuart-James. (Tr. 112-13, Vol. I)

On approximately six occasions, Mr. Roche conducted unauthorized trading in Mr. Boe's account which he had taken over in 1988. On at least one occasion, Mr. Boe notified Stuart-James that the purchase was unauthorized and requested that no further transactions occur without his authorization. (Tr. 164-65, Vol. I)

Mr. Gregory told Mr. Roche when he opened his account in 1987 that would not invest more than \$25,000 so he was upset when Mr. Roche effected unauthorized purchases in his account that required Mr. Gregory to pay \$700 over that limit. (Tr. 35, Vol. II) Mr. Gregory paid the additional funds because Mr. Roche said if Mr. Gregory did not pay he would have to pay for it out of his own pocket. (Tr. 35-36, Vol. II).

Mr. Roche offered no plausible defense for his intentional acts done willfully as part of a scheme or course of business to defraud investors in violation of the antifraud provisions of the securities statutes.

PUBLIC INTEREST

Having found that Mr. Roche has violated the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, the next consideration is whether it is in the public interest to sanction him, order him to cease and desist, and order him to disgorge funds.

The applicable factors used to assess the public interest are enunciated in <u>Steadman</u> v. <u>SEC</u>, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979), <u>aff'd on other grounds</u>, 450 U.S. 91 (1981):

[T]he egregiousness of the defendant's actions, the isolated or recurrent nature of the infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the defendant's assurances against future violations, the defendant's recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct, and the likelihood that his occupation will present opportunities for future violations.

Measured against these criteria, Mr. Roche's violations were serious and blatant. By fraudulent means he took substantial sums of money from people, including some who were either retired, semi-retired, or close to retirement, who he knew expected to have their funds available to them in the short-term. His illegal activities were pervasive in that they involved several clients and many transactions, and they were recurrent in that he continued the same type of wrongdoing for at least a three-year period. Mr. Roche possessed a high degree of scienter when he carried out this fraudulent scheme.

I find Mr. Roche's defense that he was not a wrongdoer but a victim of Stuart-James's illegalities like his customers implausible. (Tr. 79, Vol. II) There is not one shred of evidence in this record to support his claim that he did not know at the time that what his conduct was illegal. Mr. Roche has a college degree with a major in economics. He told his customers he had an excellent understanding of penny stock trading, and he

demonstrated that knowledge at the hearing. Additionally, he continued to commit illegal acts for at least a year and a half after he claims he realized in the spring of 1989 that Stuart-James's representations were false. (Tr. 133-136, Vol. II)

The fact that Mr. Roche made over a million dollars from his activities at Stuart-James in the four years from 1986 until he left in 1990, and he has earned considerably less since then - \$30,000 in 1993 - makes it reasonable to assume that Mr. Roche committed these illegal acts to benefit himself financially. And he succeeded. (Tr. 25-26, Vol. I; Tr. 91-94, Vol. II) 31/ This income disparity also increases the likelihood that Mr. Roche will, if allowed, commit additional violations and supports a bar and an order to cease and desist.

The record is replete with evidence that Mr. Roche asked people to trust him to act in their best interests. When their accounts lost money, he begged for another chance and gave assurances that he would make up the losses. Mr. Roche's statements to Mr. Doshi, when Mr. Doshi called seeking an explanation for unauthorized transactions that Mr. Roche effected in his account, shows how Mr. Roche lied and cajoled people into believing that if they continued to deal with him their investments would be profitable.

I lost a hundred forty thousand on the market, by the way; I learned by that also, by the way, but I mean -- you know -- I'm taking care of -- I don't care about that. I care about our relationship, it's no bullshit and I want to get up there and sit down with you...

your business and your whole thing is very important to me. That's what makes me, I think a little bit different, is I'm not going anywhere; I'm not somebody that doesn't care; and I'm going to drive up to Carson City Tuesday, if it,

^{31/} Noting my surprise that someone who earned a million dollars in four years could see themselves as a victim, Mr. Roche explained that there were people in the securities industry [presumably engaging in similar conduct] who had made and were making more than he did. (Tr. 93, Vol. II)

if nothing else changes, and we'll sit down.

... let me get my ass up there to, to see you and, and we'll, we'll look eye-to-eye again, and we'll understand each other...

I'm thinking clients first, okay; I'm not thinking brokerage firm, I'm not thinking anything but client...

with some, some right moves, any monies that we lost will seem, will seem - uh, will come back to us. I'm not gonna give up. I'm having some better success this year with some of the stocks. I just had a stock that I mentioned that, that ran for me ... You know why? Because I'm researching these stocks. ... You've been one of the ones that's been loyal to me, and I want to, I want to bring you back. Uh, not ... I don't need your business, okay? I want to do it for you, though, okay? You gotta believe that ... (D. Ex 2D at 6, 8, 9-10)

In September 1990, Rose C. Maslack (Ms. Maslack), complained that she trusted her nephew, Mr. Roche at his request, but that he had mismanaged her Stuart-James account, effected unauthorized transactions, and caused severe losses in the funds she had given him to invest. (D. Ex. 16) According to Ms. Maslack,

[Y]ou would have to talk to Donald Roche to realize what a smooth operator he is & how he can evade a direct answer and make what he is doing seem right. (D. Ex. 17)

Ms. Maslack notified Stuart-James that she withdrew her complaint against Mr. Roche on November 30, 1990. (R. Ex. 6)

The probability is very high that Mr. Roche will commit additional violations if permitted to remain in the securities industry. He does not acknowledge his wrongful conduct, or represent that he will discontinue the way he has conducted his business. Like so many of his statements, his representation that he has "constantly worked to learn more about the business and the companies, and research analysis and technical analysis, fundamental analysis, down the line to where the example of the Stuart-James episode

wouldn't happen to me again" is meaningless. 32/ (Tr. 180, Vol. II) Things did not happen to him, he caused illegal things to happen to others.

Mr. Roche knows no shame. After hearing seven former customers and an expert describe how he illegally enriched himself at the expense of others, he insisted that "that the [securities] industry needs brokers, conscientious brokers like myself", and he viewed the hearing as a way of letting his former customers know he tried his best. (Tr. 88, Vol. I; Tr. 179-80, Vol. II)

I reject Mr. Roche's claim that a five year statute of limitations had run on the underlying allegations. 33/ The Order issued May 19, 1994, alleges that he committed illegal acts from April 1987 through April 1990 so that the action was brought within five years. In addition, if Mr. Roche was referring to the five year statute of limitations contained in 28 U.S.C. 2462, that provision is inapplicable because (1) the Commission has held that the federal five year statute of limitations contained in 28 U.S.C. § 2462 is not applicable to remedial actions under Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act (Patricia A. Johnson, 59 SEC Docket 0963, 0872-73 (May 10, 1995); Howard Rubin, 58 SEC Docket 1478, 1481 (1995)), and (2) neither an order to cease and desist nor an order to disgorge illegal gains pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act and Section 21C of the Exchange Act are in the nature of penalties.

^{32/} Mr. Roche's recommendations to clients were based only on the information Stuart-James provided. (Tr. 145-47, Vol. II)

^{33/} Mr. Roche stated "During the course of your research, Your Honor, I would like you to look into if there are [sic] a statute of limitations regarding the alleged allegations. It's almost 1995. For five years I've had no complaints." (Tr. 90- 91, Vol. II)

Mr. Roche should receive the severest sanction available to prevent him from preying further on the investing public. Based on the evidence in this record and my observation of the respondent, I find his continued employment in the securities industry in any position is contrary to the public interest. Mr. Roche should be barred from association with any broker or dealer, and ordered to cease and desist from violating the antifraud provisions.

DISGORGEMENT

Sections 8A(d)(4)(e) of the Securities Act and Section 21C(d)(4)(e) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(d)(4)(e), 77h-1(d)(4)(e) (1988 & Supp. V 1993) 34/, provide:

In any cease-and-desist proceeding under subsection (a), the Commission may enter an order requiring accounting and disgorgement, including reasonable interest. The Commission is authorized to adopt rules, regulations, and orders concerning payments to investors, rates of interest, periods of accrual, and such other matters as it deems appropriate to implement this subsection.

The purpose of disgorgement is to prevent a wrongdoer from profiting from his/her illicit conduct. In view of Mr. Roche's outrageously illegal behavior from which he gained substantial financial benefit, disgorgement is appropriate in this action to "deprive a wrongdoer of his unjust enrichment and to deter others from violating the securities laws." SEC v. First City Financial Corp., Ltd., 890 F.2d 1215, 1230 (D.C. Cir. 1989)

Mr. Roche earned over one million dollars as a registered representative with Stuart-James in the period during which he violated the antifraud provisions of the securities laws. During this time he handled over 300 customer accounts. The unrefuted evidence in this record establishes that he committed illegal acts for which he unjustly earned commissions

^{34/} Added to the Acts by the Securities Enforcement Remedies and Penny Stock Reform Act of 1990, Pub. L. No. 101-429, 104 Stat. 931.

in seven customer accounts. Because Mr. Roche did not fully comply with a Commission subpoena, the Division was only able to introduce evidence that three of Mr. Roche's customers paid the following transaction costs in accounts where he engaged in unsuitable and excessive transactions. 35/ The evidence from the Division's expert is unrefuted on this record. (D. Ex. 11; Tr. 73-77, Vol. II) 36/

CUSTOMER	COMMISSIONS
Mr. Gregory	\$15,571
Mr. Novak	37,107
Mr. Scheidker	49,504
	102,182

I find that Mr. Roche should be required to return to investors the commissions they paid on these transactions which occurred from his excessive trading in their accounts, \$102,182, and prejudgment interest on that amount. Prejudgment interest is applicable as a matter of fairness to compensate people who were deprived of the use of their funds by a person who took advantage of his position of trust.

The Commission has waived payment based on a sworn statement of financial

^{35/} Dr. Brown shows these figures as commissions, yet his workpapers describe them as transaction costs which include all commissions on agency trades, mark-ups and mark-downs on principal trades, all exchange fees and SEC fees. (D. Ex. 11 at 8, 13) The courts have held that disgorgement need only be a reasonable approximation of profits causally connected to the violations. When the government has made this showing, the burden shifts to the respondent to show that the amount is not a reasonable approximation. SEC v. First City Financial Corp., Ltd., 890 F.2d 1215, 1231 (D.C. Cir. 1989)

^{36/}In its Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Division puts the amount at \$102,561. I do not understand the discrepancy.

condition which demonstrates that a person is unable to pay. The record does not contain such a statement from Mr. Roche, and the evidence does not demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that he is unable to pay this amount. 37/

ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that Donald A. Roche, Jr.:

- 1. is barred from association with any broker or dealer;
- 2. shall cease and desist from committing or causing any violations or future violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder; and
- 3. shall disgorge \$102,182.00, plus prejudgment interest from October 1, 1990 through the last day of the month preceding which payment is made at the rate of interest established under Section 6621(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. 6621(a)(2), compounded quarterly. 38/ Payment shall be made on the first day following the day this initial decision becomes final by certified check, U. S. Postal money order, bank cashier's check or bank money order made payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission, and shall be transmitted to the Comptroller, United States Securities and Exchange Commission,

^{37/} Mr. Roche testified that a 1991 bankruptcy filing was "terminated or discharged". According to the Division, the case was dismissed. (Tr. 181-82, Vol. II) Mr. Roche currently owes the Internal Revenue Service approximately \$350,000 in taxes on his income for the years 1987 through 1990 (Tr. 127-28, Vol. II). He does not recall whether he has satisfied a \$10,000 debt to a gambling casino. (Tr. 130, Vol. II)

^{38/} I have used October 1, 1990 as the date to begin assessing interest because it appears to be the first day of the month after Mr. Roche left Stuart-James. The Division would have the interest run from September 28, 1990. (Division's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at 49)

Room 2067, Stop 2-5, 450 5th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, with a cover letter

identifying the respondent, Donald A. Roche, Jr., and proceeding designation,

Administrative Proceeding No. 3-8370. A copy of the cover letter should be sent to the

Commission's Division of Enforcement at the above address.

If and when Mr. Roche pays any or all of the disgorgement amount and interest, the

parties, shall submit, within 60 days, a plan for the administration and distribution of those

funds to the Office of Administrative Law Judges.

This order shall become effective in accordance with and subject to the provisions

of Rule 17(f) of the Commission's Rules of Practice (17 C.F.R. 201.17(f)). Pursuant to that

rule, this initial decision shall become the final decision of the Commission as to each party

who has not filed a petition for review pursuant to Rule 17(b) within 15 days after service

of the initial decision upon him/her, unless the Commission, pursuant to Rule 17(c),

determines on its own initiative to review this initial decision as to a party. If a party timely

files a petition for review, or the Commission acts to review as to a party, the initial decision

shall not become final as to that party.

Brenda P. Murray

Chief Administrative Law Judge

Washington, D.C. July 5, 1995

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Before the SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

,1995
: ORDER INSTITUTING PUBLIC : PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO : SECTIONS 15(b) AND 19(h)
: OF THE SECURITIES : EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, : MAKING FINDINGS, AND: IMPOSING SANCTIONS

Ι

The Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest that public proceedings pursuant to Sections 15(b) and 19(h) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") be, and they hereby are, instituted against Danny Omar Cherif ("Cherif"). Cherif has submitted an Offer of Settlement for the purpose of settling the issues raised by these proceedings. Under the terms of Cherif's Offer of Settlement and solely for the purpose of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or on behalf of the Commission or to which the Commission is a party, Cherif, by his Offer of Settlement and admitting the findings contained in the Commission's Order, consents to the issuance of this Order Instituting Public Proceedings, Making Findings, and Imposing Sanctions ("Order").

The Commission has determined that it is appropriate and in the public interest to accept Cherif's Offer of Settlement and, accordingly, is issuing this Order.

ΙI

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

On the basis of this Order and Cherif's Offer of Settlement, the Commission finds that:

A. From at least July 1988 through May 1989 Cherif was associated with a broker-dealer registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act.

B. On June 14, 1995, pursuant to Cherif's consent in which he neither admitted nor denied the allegations of the Commission's complaint, a Final Judgment of Permanent Injunction as to Danny Omar Cherif was entered by the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois in <u>SEC v. Cherif</u>. Civ. Action No.89C 4204 (N.D. Ill.) permanently enjoining Cherif from violating Sections 10(b) and 14(e)of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5 and 14e-3 promulgated thereunder; and

III

ORDER

Based on the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest to impose the sanctions as set forth in the offer of settlement.

ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

Cherif be, and he hereby is, permanently barred from association with any broker, dealer, municipal securities dealer, investment adviser, or investment company.

By the Commission.

Jonathan G. Katz Secretary